ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2013

Appeal from York County
J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT TIMOTHY ARTIS,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2012-211727

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Appellate Defender

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in refusing to require the State to elect to prosecute either the offense of petit larceny or the offense of receiving stolen goods, when the offenses did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not proved by the same evidence, thereby violating Appellant's right to a fair trial?

- II. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal where the evidence merely raised the suspicion of Appellant's guilt, and the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's guilt of petit larceny?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 18, 2011, the York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Robert Artis for receiving stolen goods valued at \$2,000 or less, third or more property offense.¹ R. 163. The York County Grand Jury also indicted Appellant for petit larceny, third or more property offense, on March 22, 2012. R. 165.

On April 16–17, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael Baxley and a jury. R. 1. Dan Hall represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Marina Hamilton represented the State. At the close of the State’s case, the trial court granted Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the receiving stolen goods charge, but denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict on the petit larceny charge. R. 109, l. 9 – 121, l. 12. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of petit larceny. R. 152, ll. 5-21. The trial court sentenced Appellant to seven years imprisonment on the petit larceny conviction. R. 158, ll. 10-18.

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-57 (2011) (“A person convicted of an offense for which the term of imprisonment is contingent upon the value of the property involved must, upon conviction for a third or subsequent offense, be punished as prescribed for a Class E felony.”); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-20(A)(5) (2011) (“A person convicted of classified offenses, must be imprisoned as follows: . . . for a Class E felony, not more than ten years[.]”).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Motion to Require the State to Elect

Pre-trial, defense counsel moved to require the State to elect whether to proceed on the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen goods charge. R. 5, l. 10 – 6, l. 17. Defense counsel cited *State v. Tindall*, 213 S.C. 484, 50 S.E.2d 188 (1948) (holding that receiving stolen goods is a separate substantive offense from larceny), and argued that “someone else must have stolen the item or committed a larceny before a defendant can be charged or convicted of receiving stolen goods.” R. 5, ll. 12-21. Defense counsel noted, “[I]f the Court allows it in then at the directed verdict stage the Court is going, as a matter of law, the Court is going to have to direct a verdict on one of the charges.” R. 5, l. 23 – 6, l. 1. Defense counsel further argued,

[I]f we got to that point, the unfair prejudice that would occur from my client being subjected to two charges that he can't possibly be guilty of both them . . . I believe the State's position is to go forward with two charges that he can't possibly be guilty of, certainly would be prejudicial to him in front of the jury. It is confusing to the jury under [Rule] 403[, SCRE,] and that it [is] also . . . misleading [to] the jury and we would ask that the Court require the State to elect on [one] of the charges to go forward on [one] but not both.

R. 6, ll. 1-10 (emphasis added).

In response, the State cited *State v. Lee*, 147 S.C. 480, 145 S.E. 285 (1928), and argued, “[W]hen several offenses are charged, [which] grow out of the same transaction, then the prosecuting officer is not required to elect and the Court instructs the jury to pass upon several counts separately and write their verdict accordingly.” R. 6, l. 19 – 7, l. 1. The State maintained, “It is essentially saying that we can proceed on both charges and at the close of the case [Appellant] can move for a directed verdict if we have not presented

evidence for one of the charges.” R. 7, ll. 2-5.

The trial court inquired, “[W]hat is the evidence that the State intends to introduce with regards to the petit larceny as well as the receiving stolen goods [charges?]” The State replied, “Your Honor, we are moving forward like this for judicial economy . . . [Appellant] hasn’t said any statement as to where he got these items from.” R. 7, ll. 12-8. The State further noted:

[Appellant is] pleading not guilty to the larceny . . . Therefore it is presumed that he received these goods from someone else and if he gets on the stand and says . . . that he did not steal these goods then we could cover the receiving stolen goods in the same trial and that is how we would proceed.

R. 7, ll. 15-21.

The trial court then asked the State, “[W]hat do you say to the Rule 403 argument that it is prejudicial to the defendant[?]” Interestingly, the State responded, “We are not presenting evidence that is going to be prejudicial to [Appellant]. He would go up on the stand. He would give his defense if that’s what he needs to do and that would be it.” R. 7, l. 25 – 8, l. 3. The State also argued, “The inference that [Appellant] received these goods from someone else would be produced when he says he did not steal them himself.” R. 8, ll. 3-5. The trial court then informed the State, “The State goes first . . . [y]ou can’t call the defendant.” The State retorted, “But [Appellant] can move for a directed verdict again, if we did not produce evidence for receiving stolen goods.” R. 8, ll. 11-15.

At this point, the trial court confirmed the State’s theory was that Appellant stole a piece of aluminum and was later “caught on video and he produced an ID” when Appellant sold the aluminum as scrap metal. R. 8, l. 23 – 9, l. 8. This prompted the trial court to once again inquire, “[W]hat evidence will you have with regard to, other than circumstantial

evidence, that the defendant either was given th[e] stolen goods or stole it himself. What would be the evidence?" R. 9, ll. 9-12. The State eventually specified:

Well, we also have that [Appellant] lived next door with another woman at that residence. *He lived right next door to the body shop where this item was stolen. He could have possibly received it from her or he could have stolen it himself.* They both had the opportunity to do so and that would be something that he could present circumstantially.

R. 10, ll. 5-11 (emphasis added). Notably, the State never called the "woman" who lived with Appellant as a witness.

Defense counsel argued, "[O]bviously the State could benefit tremendously if they could get two charges in front of the jury[.]" R. 10, ll. 20-24. Defense counsel also argued, "[B]ecause [Appellant] can't be guilty of both of [charges], [presenting both charges to the jury] would be unfairly prejudicial to my client." R. 11, ll. 1-3. The trial court acknowledged defense counsel's argument and stated, "Very good. . . . I will take that matter under advisement." R. 11, ll. 4-5.

The trial court ultimately held:

I had a chance to review the case law . . . and I am persuaded by the precedents handed up by counsel [*State v. Lee*] . . . The case has some age on it, . . . ***but the principle has stood the test through the years which is simply that when a person is charged with receiving stolen goods as well as larceny, the State is not required to elect . . . as to how they wish to proceed. They may proceed on both charges,*** and the question will be put to the jury if both cases get to the jury as to whether or not there has been proof of guilt on the counts separately. So the Court does not require election. I am going to respectfully deny your motion.

R. 13, ll. 3-17 (emphasis added). Defense counsel argued that our Supreme Court held in *Lee* that if the offenses charged "do not grow out of the same transaction . . . the proper practice is to require the prosecuting officer to elect upon which counts he will proceed." R.

13, l. 20 – 21, l. 1. Defense counsel noted, “The opinion does not include a recitation of the facts, so we do not have any basis, factual basis, to see how [the Supreme Court] reached that.” R. 14, ll. 4-6. Defense counsel further argued, “[T]hese two offenses factually in this case, do not grow out of the same transaction and would be basis of requirement election [sic].” R. 14, ll. 17-19.

In response, the trial court stated, “Well counsel, there are many junctures at which this problem pointed out by the defense maybe fixed.” R. 14, ll. 23-25. The trial court also told defense counsel, “It is unlikely, but if a failure of proof on one or the other or both may resolve it at the directed verdict stage.” R. 15, ll. 3-5. Interestingly, the trial court indicated that he did not have the discretion to require the State to elect upon which charge to proceed against Appellant at trial: “*But I can’t require - - what you are really asking me to do is to force the state into a particular tactic or strategy, which is not for the court to do.*” R. 15, ll. 14-16 (emphasis added).

Relevant Evidence Presented by the State

James Fanning (“complaining witness”) “run[s] a body and machine shop” in Rock Hill, South Carolina. R. 43, ll. 12-24. The complaining witness maintained that he noticed a piece of aluminum missing from his business after returning to work on a Monday morning. R. 47, ll. 9-19. The complaining witness then stated that he went to Palmetto Salvage yard and that he recognized Appellant with the piece of aluminum in a surveillance video. R. 51, l. 18 – 52, l. 18. The complaining witness claimed that he was able to identify the piece of aluminum because it was painted turquoise on one side. R. 53, ll. 3-5. The complaining witness further recalled that he was able to recognize Appellant because Appellant lived fifty feet from his body shop in one of his rental properties. R. 53, ll. 14-21.

On cross-examination, the complaining witness admitted that there is a “trailer park” located behind his business and that the piece of aluminum was accessible to the public (i.e., there was no fence preventing entry onto the property). R. 59, l. 7 – 61, l. 15. The complaining witness also admitted that he did not discover the piece of aluminum was missing until Monday morning when he arrived to work (i.e., the piece of aluminum could have been stolen at any time from Friday afternoon until Monday morning). R. 61, l. 17 – 64, l. 4.

Terry Taylor, the general manager for Palmetto Recycling, revealed that he was not present when Appellant allegedly sold the piece of aluminum. R. 73, ll. 21-23. Taylor recalled that he reviewed the surveillance video with the complaining witness and law enforcement. R. 74, l. 7 – 75, l. 23. Taylor admitted that he did not recognize Appellant. R. 82, ll. 8-13. Taylor then stated that the date on the purchase order with Appellant’s name and driver’s license corresponded with the date of the surveillance video. R. 86, l. 16 – 87, l. 21.

Motion for a Directed Verdict on Both Charges

At the close of the State’s case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on both charges. R. 109, l. 9 – 110, l. 5. In support of his argument, defense counsel cited *State v. McNeil*, 314 S.C. 473, 445 S.E.2d 461 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding grand larceny and possession of stolen vehicle are separate and distinct offenses) and *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) (finding “[t]he circumstantial evidence presented by the State does not reasonably tend to prove Petitioner’s guilt, and fails this Court’s well-settled directive that circumstantial evidence that is not substantial is insufficient to go to a jury.”). R. 110, l. 9 – 112, l. 18.

Defense counsel also pointed out why the circumstantial evidence presented by the state was not substantial: (1) Based on the complaining witness' testimony, "there is a three-day time period where the metal could have been taken by someone[;]" (2) "[The] place where this metal was located was in an open area, accessible to the public[;]" and (3) "[T]here is no link in my client possessing [the piece of aluminum] and [the complaining witness] being able to say . . . what has been introduced into evidence today shows [Appellant] with this particular piece of metal[.]" R. 109, l. 12 – 114, l. 2.

In response, the State noted that the complaining witness identified Appellant in the surveillance video from Palmetto Salvage yard. R. 114, ll. 20-22. The State also claimed, "The defense is saying someone else took this item. Not the defendant. But he is in possession of this item as we saw evidenced by the video." R. 115, ll. 2-6. The trial court interjected, "*Let me stop you there. We don't have any evidence from the defendant. We haven't gotten [to] the defendant's case. The focus is on what is the proof the State has put up. So the question to you is, what is the proof you have of receiving stolen goods?*" The State replied, "It's just a question of fact how he received those goods and that's a question of fact for the jury. . . . We showed that [Appellant] [was] in possession of these stolen items." R. 115, ll. 2-25 (emphasis added).

Again, the trial court asked the State, "[W]hat is the proof you have . . . that the defendant received stolen goods?" and the State responded, "The victim did testify that this item was taken. And he has testified that it was stolen from his location and the defendant is found in possession of it at Palmetto Recycling on video with his ID." R. 116, ll. 1-9. Defense counsel argued, "I would also add that there has been no evidence that my client had any knowledge of what he had in his possession on March the 29th was in fact stolen.

Absolutely no, no evidence of knowledge.” R. 117, ll. 20-24. The trial court also noted that the State’s witness on the receiving stolen goods charge did not testify. R. 117, l. 25 – 118, l. 2.

The State reiterated, “[Appellant] had possession of these goods. *Now, it can be perceived that he did not steal them*, which is what they are putting forward.” R. 118, ll. 13-15 (emphasis added). The State based its case-in-chief on the following theory:

When you know, based on all the circumstantial evidence, [Appellant] lives next door. He had opportunity to take it, but someone else could have taken it also, is what they’re planting the seed of. So what we are doing is we are saying okay, so if he did not actually steal these items then he received possession of stolen goods. Is in possession of stolen goods.

R. 118, ll. 18-25 (emphasis added). The trial court interjected again, “*Really what you are telling me is you are basing your prosecution on what you believe the defense is going to say. But the prosecution has to stand on its own before it can be worried about what response is coming back, if any.*” R. 119, ll. 3-7 (emphasis added). The trial court further stated:

I mean at best this is conjecture that the defendant received stolen goods. There is no third person in this body of proof whatsoever. So it is clearly not a receiving of stolen goods. The question is well then, did he possess a stolen good. There is no evidence that the defendant knew it was stolen or should have known it was stolen, or how he got it which you say he purloined it. . . . I just simply don’t believe receiving stolen goods survives the direct[ed] verdict stage.

R. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 2 (emphasis added).

The trial court granted the motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the receiving stolen goods charge:

I don’t think it’s fair for the defendant to put him to the

burden of facing a charge of receiving stolen goods and that's really no[t] the theory of the State and there is no evidence to support it other than circumstantial evidence and suspicion which I do not believe meets the level required . . . thus I am going to enter a judicial dismissal on the receiving stolen goods charge.

R. 120, ll. 14-22. Yet, despite the State's failure to present evidence establishing Appellant's involvement in taking the piece of aluminum from the complaining witness' business, the trial court denied the motion for a directed verdict on the petit larceny charge:

In regard to the petit larceny charge I find there is ample and specific circumstantial evidence which would have proximity of the defendant to the item. The fact that the item went missing, or was discovered by the owner. The fact that there is a video which depicts the defendant selling that item, and then, not just a visual identification but of the defendant with the item, but a photo ID which is a South Carolina driver's license. All that clearly goes beyond. Meets the test of circumstantial evidence which excludes others, and inculcates the defendant and for all those reasons the Court denies your motion to collectively dismiss both charges and denies your motion to dismiss both charges and denies your motion to dismiss the petit larceny charge, but grants your motion on the receiving stolen goods charge.

R. 120, l. 23 – 121, l. 12.

After the jury found Appellant guilty of petit larceny, the trial court denied defense counsel's renewal of his prior motions. R. 158, ll. 7-16.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in refusing to require the State to elect to prosecute either the offense of petit larceny or the offense of receiving stolen goods, when the offenses did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not proved by the same evidence, thereby violating Appellant's right to a fair trial.

“A motion to compel the state to elect upon which count it will proceed is addressed to the sound discretion of the court, as a general rule; and its action thereon will not be interfered with, unless the discretion has been used to the manifest injury of the defendant.” *State v. Sheppard*, 54 S.C. 178, 32 S.E. 146, 147 (1899) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “The rule in this state . . . seems to be that, while distinct offenses may be charged in separate counts of the same indictment, the proper practice is, where the several offenses grow out of the same transaction, to instruct the jury to pass upon the several counts separately; but, if the several offenses charged do not grow out of the same transaction, then the proper practice is to require the prosecuting officer to elect upon which count he will proceed.” *Id.* (citations omitted). This Court has noted, “[D]ifferent misdemeanors can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) ‘aris[e] out of a single chain of circumstances,’ (2) ‘are proved by the same evidence,’ (3) ‘are of the same general nature,’ and (4) no ‘real right of the defendant has been jeopardized.’” *State v. Tate*, 286 S.C. 462, 464, 334 S.E.2d 289, 290 (1985) (quoting *City of Greenville v. Chapman*, 210 S.C. 157, 41 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1947)).

In this case, the York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for petit larceny and receiving stolen goods. R. 163 (Indictments); *See State v. Hamilton*, 172 S.C. 453, 174 S.E. 386, 396-97 (1934) (“The crime of larceny and that of receiving stolen goods are entirely separate and distinct offenses.”). Petit larceny is codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-30(A) (2010) (“Simple larceny of any article of goods . . . has value of two thousand

dollars or less, is petit larceny, a misdemeanor[.]”). *See State v. Teal*, 225 S.C. 472, 474, 82 S.E.2d 787, 788 (1954) (noting the “corpus delicti” in larceny consists of two elements, the loss of the property by the owner and the loss by a felonious taking); *see also State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 191, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002) (noting larceny is the felonious taking and carrying away of the goods of another against the owner’s will or without his consent). Receiving stolen goods is codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180(A) (2010), and provides, in pertinent part, “It is unlawful for a person to buy, receive, or possess stolen goods, chattels, or other property if the person knows or has reason to believe the goods, chattels, or property is stolen.”

Pre-trial, defense counsel moved to require the State to elect whether to proceed on the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen goods charge. R. 5, l. 10 – 6, l. 17; *See Tate*, 286 S.C. at 464, 334 S.E.2d 289 (applying the test to determine whether the State is required to elect upon which charge to proceed against the defendant at trial); *see also State v. Sweat*, 221 S.C. 270, 277, 70 S.E.2d 234, 237 (1952) (finding “[i]t is an accepted rule that one who commits larceny cannot be adjudged guilty of criminally receiving the property stolen.”). In denying defense counsel’s motion to require the State to elect the charge upon which to proceed, the trial court misinterpreted our Supreme Court’s ruling in *Lee*, 147 S.C. 480, 145 S.E. 285. Specifically, the trial court improperly relied on *Lee*; as its factual application is distinct from this case.

In *Lee*, our Supreme Court held, “There being no question that the offenses charged in the two counts of this indictment grew out of the same transaction, the court properly refused to require the state to elect” *Lee*, 147 S.C. 480, 145 S.E. 285. After he took defense counsel’s motion under advisement, the trial court erroneously held:

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