ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-211727

RECEIVED

AUG 26 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT TIMOTHY ARTIS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 27 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge committed no error in denying Appellant's motion to require the solicitor to elect between going to trial on either the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen property charge because those charges were of the same general nature, were closely connected to one another, were proven by the same evidence, and would not result in any prejudice to Appellant when tried together. However, even if the trial judge did somehow err in denying Appellant's motion to require the solicitor to elect between the charges, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the error and the error was entirely harmless due to the fact that the trial judge granted a directed verdict on the receiving stolen property charge and only submitted the petit larceny charge to the jury.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion to require the solicitor to elect whether to proceed to trial on the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen property charge. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the offenses did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances, the offenses were not proven by the same evidence, and the joinder of the offenses "would be highly prejudicial to [him] because it would improperly infer to the jury that [he] is guilty of at least one of the charges[.]" (App. Br. p. 15). To the contrary, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to require the solicitor to elect between the charges because the charges, which were both related to the theft of the victim's aluminum sheet and Appellant's subsequent possession and sale of that recently-stolen property, were of the same general nature, were closely connected to one another, were proven by the same evidence, and would not result in any prejudice to Appellant when tried together. However, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in denying Appellant's motion to require election, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact that the trial judge granted Appellant's directed verdict motion as to the receiving stolen property charge during trial and only submitted the petit larceny charge to the jury. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

A defendant has “no inalienable right” to be tried separately for each indicted offense when charged with multiple crimes. McCrary v. State, 249 S.C. 14, 38, 152 S.E.2d 235, 247 (1967). In cases where a defendant is charged with multiple offenses, decisions regarding whether to require the solicitor to elect which of several indictments to proceed to trial on fall within the discretion of the trial judge. State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 64, 271 S.E.2d 110, 114 (1980); see State v. Sheppard, 54 S.C. 178, 181, 32 S.E. 146, 147 (1899) (“ ‘A motion to compel the State to elect upon which count it will proceed is addressed to the sound discretion of the Court, as a general rule, and its action thereon will not be interfered with unless the discretion has been used to the manifest injury of the defendant.’ ” (citation omitted)). The trial judge’s ruling on a motion to require the solicitor to elect between multiple charges will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion. Sheppard, 54 S.C. at 181, 32 S.C. at 147; see also State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996) (“A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.”). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 613, 629 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 2006).

When separately-indicted offenses are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character, the trial judge has the discretion to order the indictments be tried together, but only so long as the defendant’s substantive rights are not prejudiced. State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005); see Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265 (“Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature,

and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.”); State v. Carter, 324 S.C. 383, 386, 478 S.E.2d 86, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Joinder is proper if the offenses (1) are of the same general nature or character and spring from the same series of transactions, (2) are committed by the same offender, and (3) require the same or similar proof.” (citing City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 41 S.E.2d 865 (1947))). Interconnected offenses are considered to be of the same general nature. State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 315, 479 S.E.2d 517, 519 (Ct. App. 1996). Conversely, offenses which are of the same nature but which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence cannot properly be tried together. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002).

Significantly, in State v. Lee, 147 S.C. 480, 482, 145 S.E. 285, 286 (1928), Lee was charged with grand larceny and receiving stolen goods in connection to the theft of bales of cotton from the victim. Prior to trial, Lee moved for the trial judge to require the solicitor to elect which of the charges to proceed to trial on, and the trial judge denied the motion. Id. at 483, 145 S.E.2d at 286. The jury then acquitted Lee of grand larceny and convicted Lee of receiving stolen goods, and he appealed his conviction, arguing the trial judge erred in denying his motion to require election. Id. at 482-483, 145 S.E. at 286. On appeal, the Supreme Court discussed the rule regarding trials involving more than one offense, instructing:

The rule in this State is that distinct offenses – felonies or misdemeanors – may be charged in separate counts of the same indictment, whether growing out of the same transaction or not. If the several offenses charged do not grow out of the same transaction, then the proper practice is to require the prosecuting officer to elect upon which count he will proceed. But, when several offenses charged grow out of the same transaction, then the prosecuting officer is not required to elect, and the Court instructs the jury to pass upon the several counts separately, and write their verdict accordingly.

Id. at 483, 145 S.E. at 286. The Supreme Court then applied that rule to Lee's case and found no error on the part of the trial judge in proceeding to trial on both the grand larceny charge and receiving stolen property charge, explaining: "There being no question that the offenses charged in the two counts of the indictment grew out of the same transaction, the Court properly refused to require the State to elect, and submitted the case to the jury on both counts under appropriate instructions as to each." Id. at 483-484, 145 S.E. at 286.

In the case sub judice, the trial judge committed no error in denying Appellant's motion to require the solicitor to elect whether to proceed to trial on either the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen property charge because those offenses were of the same general nature, were closely connected to one another, were proven by the same evidence, and would not result in any prejudice to Appellant when tried together. Critically, both of the indicted charges stemmed from the theft of the aluminum sheet from the victim and Appellant's subsequent possession and sale of that stolen property and, thus, were interconnected and of the same general nature. See State v. Grace, 350 S.C. 19, 23, 564 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct. App. 2002) ("When offenses are interconnected they are considered to be of the same general nature."); see also Love, 275 S.C. at 64, 271 S.E.2d at 114 ("The indictments alleged separate offenses growing out of the same transaction – the illegal fixing of the driving record of Mr. Dennis – and, under these circumstances, there was no requirement that the State elect."). Additionally, the State sought to prove both offenses with the same evidence related to the theft of the victim's aluminum piece and Appellant's subsequent possession and sale of that stolen property a short time later. See Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 264 (finding the

requirements for consolidation were met where the charges arose out of the same chain of circumstances and would be proved by the same evidence); see also State v. Caldwell, 378 S.C. 268, 278, 662 S.E.2d 474, 479-480 (Ct. App. 2008) (“While the alleged crimes involved pertained to three separate children necessitating some individual evidence as to each of the charges, much of the evidence produced at trial pertained to each of the separate charges. Thus, the separate offenses are proved by the same evidence. We find the fact that some additional evidence from the individual victims may be necessary to prove the individual crimes is not fatal to the joinder of the charges.”). Furthermore, Appellant suffered no meaningful or articulable prejudice as a result of both charges being tried together in light of the trial judge’s thorough instructions to the jurors informing them that the State was required to prove each element of each offense before Appellant could be convicted and that Appellant could **not** be guilty of both of the indicted offenses. See State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 279, 468 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding no abuse of discretion in the trial judge’s determination that the charges should have been jointly tried where “[t]he trial judge went to great lengths to fully instruct the jury that the state had the burden of proving each element of each crime”). As a result, the trial judge committed no error in denying Appellant’s motion to require the solicitor to elect whether to proceed to trial on the petit larceny charge or the receiving stolen property charge. See State v. Hamilton, 172 S.C. 453, 455, 174 S.E. 396, 396-397 (1934) (recognizing that Hamilton could properly be charged with both larceny and receiving stolen property but finding he was entitled to have the jury instructed that he could not be convicted of both); see also Chapman, 210 S.C. at 161-162, 41 S.E.2d at 867 (“No sound reason can be advanced why different misdemeanors charged in one warrant, arising out of a single chain of circumstances, should not be tried

together, where they are proved by the same evidence and are all of the same general nature. Where it does not appear that any real right of the defendant has been jeopardized, it would be a refinement not demanded by the law or by justice to require in all instances a separate trial. We think the interest of the public and the right of the defendant will be better subserved in general by permitting as matter of law a single trial under such conditions, leaving it to the sound discretion of the trial court to order separate trials when the rights of either the commonwealth or of the defendant appear to require it.”); see, e.g., State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 665, 742 S.E.2d 29, 37 (Ct. App. 2013) (recognizing nothing prohibits the State from asserting two different legal theories based on the evidence presented during trial).

However, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in denying Appellant’s motion to require election, any error was entirely harmless and resulted in no prejudice to Appellant. See State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991) (“[An appellate court] will not set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”). Critically, no evidence specifically related to one of the charges but not the other was presented during trial, which eliminated any potential prejudice that could have resulted from the presentation of evidence during the joint trial. Furthermore, notwithstanding the fact that the trial judge preliminarily instructed the jury that the State was required to prove Appellant’s guilt for each offense beyond a reasonable doubt and that Appellant could **not** be convicted of both of the indicted offenses, the trial judge granted Appellant’s directed verdict motion on the receiving stolen property charge before the case was submitted to the jury. Cf. Sheppard, 54 S.C. at 182, 32 S.E. at 147 (“Besides, as the two defendants, who are prosecuting this appeal (the defendant, Sheppard, having abandoned his appeal) were convicted under the third count in the

indictment only, the practical effect, as to them, [resulting from the trial judge's alleged error in refusing their motion to require the solicitor to elect upon which count he would proceed] is the same as if there were no other count in the indictment; and hence they have no reason to complain.”). As a result, the jury was not asked to decide if Appellant was guilty of receiving stolen property and, instead, was only asked to determine if Appellant was not guilty or guilty of petit larceny. Accordingly, since no evidence was presented during trial unrelated to the only charge actually submitted to the jury, Appellant suffered no actual prejudice from the denial of his motion to require the solicitor to elect which charge to proceed to trial on, and any possible error that could have resulted from the denial of his motion was, therefore, entirely harmless. See State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 285, 288 (1947) (“It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of the offense of petit larceny based on the evidence and testimony presented during trial, which established Appellant was in possession of recently-stolen property and sold the stolen property for a sum far below its actual value.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his directed verdict motion as to the petit larceny charge. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the evidence presented during trial was not substantial circumstantial evidence and, instead, only raised a mere suspicion of his guilt for petit larceny. To the contrary, the evidence and testimony presented during trial constituted substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt for petit larceny because it established Appellant was in possession of a recently-stolen and uniquely-identifiable aluminum sheet and sold that stolen property for far less than it was actually worth. Based on those established facts, the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant guilty of taking and carrying away the victim's property without the victim's consent and convict him of petit larceny. Therefore, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion and submitted the petit larceny charge to the jury. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C.

279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). "[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law." State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

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